# ZONING, PLATTING & ADVISORY COMMITTEE (ZPAC) February 2, 2021 – Approved Meeting Minutes

PBZ Chairman Scott Gengler called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m.

Present:

Matt Asselmeier – PBZ Department Lauren Belville – Health Department (Attended Remotely Starting at 9:05 a.m.) Scott Gengler – PBZ Committee Chair David Guritz – Forest Preserve Brian Holdiman – PBZ Department Fran Klaas – Highway Department (Attended Remotely) Commander Jason Langston – Sheriff's Department (Attended Remotely) Alyse Olson – Soil and Water Conservation District (Attended Remotely)

<u>Absent:</u> Meagan Briganti – GIS Greg Chismark – WBK Engineering, LLC

#### Audience:

Dan Kramer, Jason Engberg (Attended Remotely), Mike Torrence (Attended Remotely), Larry Nelson (Attended Remotely), Doug Nelson (Attended Remotely), Tom Karpus (Attended Remotely), John Whitehouse (Attended Remotely), and Kelly Schomer (Attended Remotely)

## AGENDA

Mr. Guritz made a motion, seconded by Mr. Holdiman, to approve the agenda as presented.

The votes were as follows:

Yeas (7): Asselmeier, Gengler, Guritz, Holdiman, Klaas, Langston, and Olson Nays (0): None Abstain (0): None Absent (3): Belville, Briganti, and Chismark

The motion carried.

## MINUTES

Mr. Guritz made a motion, seconded by Mr. Holdiman, to approve the January 5, 2021, meeting minutes.

The votes were as follows:

Yeas (7): Asselmeier, Gengler, Guritz, Holdiman, Klaas, Langston, and Olson Nays (0): None Abstain (0): None Absent (3): Belville, Briganti, and Chismark

The motion carried.

#### PETITIONS

Petition 20-32 Cindy Gates on Behalf of the Cindy Gates Trust and Mark Cox on Behalf of Cox Landscaping, LLC Mr. Asselmeier summarized the request.

Cindy Gates, on behalf of the Cindy Gates Trust, currently leases the subject property to Mark Cox of Cox Landscaping, LLC for use as a landscaping business.

Prior to the COVID-19 closures, the County received a complaint that a landscaping business was operating at the subject property without proper zoning. Efforts to determine if the use qualified for grandfathering were unsuccessful and the Petitioner decided to pursue a map amendment and special use permit. The COVID-19 closures and efforts to obtain stormwater information caused the application to be delayed.

The subject property is split zoned between A-1 and B-3. The request makes the entire frontage of the parcels B-3 and establishes a special use permit for a landscaping business over the area zoned B-3.

The application materials, aerial of the site portion of the property, site plan, and the plat of the area proposed for rezoning were provided.

The property is approximately two point five (2.5) acres.

The County's Future Land Use Map calls for the property to be Suburban Residential. Yorkville's Future Land Use Map calls for the property to be Agricultural.

Route 34 is a State-maintained arterial highway. There is a trail along Route 34.

There are no floodplains or wetlands on the property.

The adjacent land uses are agricultural to the north, east, and west, and commercial to the south.

The adjacent zonings are A-1, R-3 and B-3 and Planned Development B-3 and O in Yorkville.

The County's Future Land Use Map calls for the area to be Suburban Residential and the Yorkville Future Land Use Map calls for the area to be Suburban Neighborhoods and Mid-Density Residential.

Ms. Belville started attending the meeting remotely at this time (9:05 a.m.).

Zoning Districts within one half (1/2) mile include A-1, R-3, B-3 in the County and Planned Development R-3 and O in Yorkville.

Pictures of the property were provided.

Four (4) residential subdivisions are located within one half (1/2) mile of the subject property.

EcoCAT Report submitted and found the Fox River INAI Site, Yorkville Forested Seep and Fen INAI Site, and the River Redhorse in the area. Adverse impacts were unlikely and consultation was terminated.

The LESA Score was 115 indicating a low level of protection.

The Petitioners appeared before the Bristol Township Board on February 5, 2020, prior to submitting an application with the County. The Bristol Township Board voted in favor of the request. The minutes of this meeting were provided. Petition information was sent to Bristol Township on January 20, 2021.

Petition information was sent to the United City of Yorkville on January 20, 2021.

Petition information was sent to the Bristol-Kendall Fire Protection District on January 20, 2021.

The subject property has been used as a landscaping business without proper zoning for many years and the Petitioners would like to become compliant with the Zoning Ordinance.

According to the business plan provided, Cox Landscaping, LLC provides general landscaping services to commercial and residential customers. The business has a maximum fifteen (15) employees. Employees arrive at the property at approximately 6:45 a.m., go to work sites, and return to the property by 5:30 p.m. The business operates at maximum capacity from April 1<sup>st</sup> through Thanksgiving. A smaller number of employees work for the business from November through April.

The subject property is used for offices and storage of landscaping materials.

The subject property is used for wholesale purposes only; no customers come onto the property.

The property presently consists of one (1) one thousand thirty (1,030) square foot steel building. An approximately fiftythree (53) square foot metal shed is located northeast of the steel building. A metal storage bin is located to the southeast of the steel building. An approximately one hundred twenty (120) square foot frame shed is also located southeast of the steel building. A new shed is shown on the site plan; the new shed will be approximately eight feet (8') tall. Any new structures would require applicable building permits. The property also has one (1) two hundred fifty-two (252) square foot concrete storage area, one (1) two hundred sixteen (216) square foot concrete storage area, one (1) seven hundred fourteen (714) square foot concrete storage area, and one (1) five hundred forty-four (544) square foot wood storage bay. The height of the storage areas is twelve feet (12').

One (1) diesel tank is located on the property. The property is served by well. There is no septic on the premises.

The property drains to the southeast.

The main parking area consists of gravel and crushed asphalt.

A pulverized black dirt pile will be located on the northern portion of the property.

A stormwater management permit will be required. The stormwater information was provided.

The property has two (2) accesses off of Route 34.

One (1) two thousand five hundred (2,500) square foot gravel parking area is located west of the steel building and one (1) five thousand (5,000) square foot parking lot is located north of the steel building. There are twelve (12) parking spaces in the gravel parking area west of the steel building with an additional twelve (12) parking spaces to the east of the steel building.

Lights are presently located on the property by the sign, flagpole, and on the steel building. One (1) freestanding light is also located on the property next to the steel building. No additional is planned.

The site has less than thirty (30) parking spaces. Therefore, a photometric plan is not required.

A sign is already located on the property. The sign is five feet (5') wide and two feet (2') tall. The sign is three point eight feet (3.8') off of the ground for a total height of slightly under six feet (6'). A light exists next to the sign and flagpole.

A wooden fence six feet (6') in height is located between the steel building and the berm. The Petitioners plan to install a cyclone mesh fence with slats to prevent viewing by the public. The fence will be approximately six feet (6') in height. A new fence gate is visible on the site plan.

Security cameras are also located on the steel building.

The Petitioners also plan to have a three foot (3') maximum height berm with black dirt and mulch with landscaping in the location shown on the site plan.

A berm already exists parallel to Route 34.

No additional plantings are planned for either berm.

No information was provided regarding noise control.

No new odors are foreseen by the proposed use.

If approved, this would be the twelfth (12<sup>th</sup>) special use permit for a landscaping business in unincorporated Kendall County.

Before issuing a recommendation, Staff would like comments from the United City of Yorkville, the Bristol-Kendall Fire Protection District, and ZPAC members.

Mr. Gengler asked about the lack of the septic system. There is no septic system on the property. Ms. Belville asked if restrooms would be required on the property. Dan Kramer, Attorney for the Petitioner, noted that a porta-john is onsite, but no customers come onto the property and employees do not linger at the property. Mr. Holdiman noted that no bathrooms were required based on the current proposal.

Ms. Belville asked about the reason for the well on the property. Mr. Kramer provided a history of the property. The property was used as a nursery with a landscaping business. The water was used to water the plants at the nursery. A retail nursery was also located on the property. The well would continue to be kept active.

Mr. Gengler asked about the northern entrance. The driveway north of the property line is not owned by the Petitioners and leads to the adjacent farm field.

Mr. Klaas noted that the trail already existed on the north side of Route 34. Mr. Kramer noted that IDOT affirmed the cuts along Route 34.

Mr. Kramer stated that he reviewed Mr. Asselmeier's proposed conditions. He requested that the restriction regarding customers coming onto the property be changed to state that the Petitioners would not invite customers onto the property. Mr. Kramer also requested the special use run with the land and not with the Petitioners.

No burning shall occur onsite.

Mr. Klaas asked if the County had received any objections to this proposal. Mr. Asselmeier responded that the County had not received any objections. Jason Engberg, from the United City of Yorkville, responded that Yorkville had also not received any comments regarding this proposal.

Yorkville will review the proposal in March.

Mr. Asselmeier made a motion, seconded by Mr. Guritz, to recommend approval of the map amendment and special use permit.

The votes were as follows:

Yeas (8): Asselmeier, Belville, Gengler, Guritz, Holdiman, Klaas, Langston, and Olson Nays (0): None Abstain (0): None Absent (2): Briganti and Chismark

The motion carried.

The proposal goes to the Kendall County Regional Planning Commission on February 24, 2021.

#### Petition 21-03 Larry Nelson on Behalf of the L and P Nelson Trust

Mr. Asselmeier summarized the request.

In October 2016, the Kendall County Board granted a special use permit for a banquet facility, nano brewery, micro distillery, year round seasonal festival with petting zoo, production and sale of sweet cider, and related variances at 15888 Frazier Road in Little Rock Township.

The Petitioner, Larry Nelson on Behalf of the L and P Nelson Trust 103, would like to expand the operations allowed by the special use permit in 2016 to the adjacent property on the east side of Creek Road. In addition to the structures already allowed, the Petitioner would like to construct some parking areas and thirty thousand (30,000) square feet of additional buildings on the east side of Creek Road. The Petitioner would like to construct some parking areas and thirty thousand variances previously approved in 2016 to apply to the expanded uses on the east side of Creek Road. The Petitioner would also like to remove the requirement setting the number of buildings at three (3); no non-agricultural building would be larger than ten thousand (10,000) square feet in size.

The application materials, concept plan, Ordinance 2016-21, and aerial of the property were provided.

The expansion area is approximately thirty-one (31) acres in size.

The Future Land Use Plan calls for the property to be Rural Estate Residential and Countryside Residential.

Creek Road is a Township maintained Local Road. The County has a trail planned along Creek Road north of Frazier Road.

The One (100)-Year Floodplain of Little Rock Creek is located on the far east and south sides of the property. A freshwater forested shrub wetland is located on the east side of the subject property. The proposed uses are outside of the floodplain and wetland.

The adjacent land uses are Agricultural and an outlot to a residential subdivision.

The adjacent zonings are A-1 and A-1 SU in the County and AG-1 in Plano.

The County's Future Land Use Map calls for the area to be Agricultural, Countryside Residential, Rural Estate Residential, and Commercial. Plano's Future Land Use Map calls for the area to be Open Space, Low-Density Residential, and General Business.

The nearby zoning districts include A-1, A-1 SU, and R-3 in the County and AG-1, F-1, R-5, B-2, and B-5 in Plano.

The A-1 special uses to the west are for Woody's Orchard and communication uses.

Unit 6 of Lakewood Springs and Unit 2 of Woodwind Subdivision are located near the subject property.

EcoCat submitted on January 5, 2021, and consultation was terminated.

NRI application submitted on January 8, 2021.

Little Rock Township was emailed information on January 19, 2021.

Little Rock Fox Fire Protection District was emailed information on January 19, 2021.

The City of Plano was emailed information on January 19, 2021.

According to the business information provided, the Petitioner would like to expand operations of Woody's Orchard to the property they own on the east side of Creek Road. The Petitioners would like to construct approximately three (3) buildings with a total of thirty thousand square feet in substantially the locations shown on the concept plan. The concept plan also calls for two (2) parking areas and two (2) access points off of Creek Road. Traffic circulation would be one (1) way throughout the property. The concept plan also calls for an apple tree area on the north side of the property.

The Petitioner would like the conditions and variances imposed by Ordinance 2016-21 to carry over to the new area of operations. The conditions from Ordinance 2016-21 are as follows:

- 1. The property shall be developed in substantial compliance with the submitted concept plan.
- 2. The maximum number of patrons for banquets shall be limited to two hundred twenty-five (225), including any vendors working on the property for a banquet.
- 3. No event activity shall start earlier than 7:00 a.m. any day of the week, and shall end no later than 10:00pm, Monday thru Wednesday and no later than 11:30 pm Thursday thru Sunday. Banquets may end no later than midnight.
- 4. Lighting shall comply with Section 11:02.F.12 of the Zoning Ordinance.
- 5. Parking reserved for ADA accessibility shall be marked and constructed with a hard surface adjacent to the proposed retail store/bakery.
- 6. Any food prepared or sold on site, shall conform to the regulations of the Kendall County Health Department.
- 7. Retail sales are permitted provided that the retail sales will be ancillary to the main operation. Such sales may occur year around.
- 8. Noise generated by non-agricultural activities on-site shall comply with the following:
  - a. <u>Day Hours</u>: No person shall cause or allow the emission of sound during daytime hours (7:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m.) from any noise source to any receiving residential land which exceeds sixty-five (65) dBA when measured at any point within such receiving residential land provided; however, that point of measurement shall be on the residential property line of the complainant.
  - b. <u>Night Hours</u>: No person shall cause or allow the emission of sound during nighttime hours (10:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m.) from any noise source to any receiving residential land which exceeds fifty-five (55) dBA when measured at any point within such receiving residential land provided; however, that point of measurement shall be on the residential property line of the complainant.

- c. <u>EXEMPTION</u>: Powered Equipment: Powered equipment, such as lawn mowers, small lawn and garden tools, riding tractors, and snow removal equipment which is necessary for the maintenance of property is exempted from the noise regulations between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 10:00 p.m.
- 9. All applicable Federal (including the Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau), State (including the Illinois Liquor Control Commission), and County rules and regulations shall apply.
- 10. A waste management plan shall be submitted to and approved by the Kendall County Health Department prior to operation of the micro distillery.
- 11. The petting zoo shall provide adequate hand sanitation devices as determined by the Department of Health.
- 12. There shall be a maximum of three (3) new buildings, with a maximum size of ten thousand (10,000) square feet each, for the banquet hall, bakery/retail store, and other commercial uses. This maximum number of buildings excludes agricultural buildings such as barns or sheds.
- 13. Signs shall comply with sign standards for Business Districts in the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance (Section 12:10), and may only be externally illuminated.
- 14. Adequate parking on site shall be provided in such a way that no on-street parking is necessary. Parking shall be setback a minimum of thirty feet (30') from the right-of-way of Frazier Road.
- 15. Accessory uses including but not limited to temporary vendors engaged in the sale of ancillary items not produced on site but which are related to products produced on site or associated with the season shall be permitted.

Failure to comply with the terms of this ordinance may be cited as a basis for amending or revoking this special use permit.

The variances from Ordinance 2016-21 are as follows:

- 1. That a Banquet Hall, Micro-Distillery, Nano-Brewery shall have direct access to Creek Road and Frazier Road (neither of which is designated as a collector or higher on the County's Transportation Plan).
- 2. The retail sales areas may exceed one thousand (1,000) square feet, but shall not exceed ten thousand (10,000) square feet per building.
- 3. That parking be allowed within thirty feet (30') of the Frazier Road right-of-way (reduced from the one hundred foot (100') agricultural setback).

According to the business plan information provided, the proposed use is "a hybrid use of agriculture, entertainment, food and family fun." Some commodities are grown onsite while others are grown offsite. Family friendly activities are also offered on the property.

No information was provided, either in the current application or in Ordinance 2016-21, regarding number of employees or number of events. Condition 3 of Ordinance 2016-21 stated that events cannot start prior to 7:00 a.m. any day of the week and shall end no later than 10:00 p.m. on Mondays thru Wednesdays and no later than 11:30 p.m. Thursdays thru Sundays. Banquets may end no later than midnight. Condition 2 of Ordinance 2016-21 stated that the maximum number of patrons at a banquet is limited to two hundred twenty-five (225), including vendors working at the property for a banquet.

The Petitioner did not indicate when they would start construction on the expansion, if the special use amendment was approved.

Building permits will be required for the proposed structures.

The Petitioner would like to amend Condition 3 of Ordinance 2016-21 by removing the three (3) building maximum. The total allowable square footage would remain at thirty thousand (30,000) and no non-agricultural building would be larger than ten thousand (10,000) square feet.

Section 7:01.D.32.g of the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance and Condition 10 of Ordinance 2016-21 requires a waste management plan be submitted and approved by the Kendall County Health Department prior to the operation of a micro distillery. Condition 11 of Ordinance 2016-21 requires adequate hand sanitation devices as determined by the Kendall County Health Department for the operation of a petting zoo. Condition 6 of Ordinance 2016-21 requires that any food prepared or sold on the property follow Kendall County Health Department regulations.

No information was provided regarding potable water availability or restroom facilities in the expansion area.

Electricity is onsite.

No information was provided for refuse control areas for refuse generated from the special uses.

The property fronts Creek Road. According to the concept plan, the way into the property would be a driveway across the street from the existing entrance to Woody's Orchard and the way out of the property would be through a driveway that lines up with Frazier Road.

The concept plan shows two (2) parking areas. No information was provided regarding the dimensions of the parking areas or the number of parking spaces. According to Condition 5 of Ordinance 2016-21, ADA parking spaces shall be marked and constructed with a hard surface. According to Condition 14 of Ordinance 2016-21, parking shall be setback a minimum of thirty feet (30') from the right-of-way of Frazier Road.

According to Condition 4 of Ordinance 2016-21, all lighting shall comply with Section 11:02.F.12 of the Zoning Ordinance. No information was provided regarding the number or location of lights.

According to Condition 13 of Ordinance 2016-21, all signage on the property shall follow the rules for signs in a Business District as outlined in Section 12:10 of the Zoning Ordinance. Signs may be externally illuminated. No information was provided regarding the number, location, or size of signs.

No specific information was provided regarding landscaping. The Petitioner indicated that they would provide additional landscaping information when applying for building permits.

No information was provided regarding specific noise control measures. The uses must follow the noise regulations in the Zoning Ordinance and the allowable noise levels listed in Ordinance 2016-21.

Before issuing a final recommendation, Staff would like comments from ZPAC Members, Little Rock Township, City of Plano, and the Little Rock Fox Fire Protection District.

As of the date of the provided memo, the proposed conditions for the amendment are as follows:

- 1. The subject property shall be developed substantially in accordance with the concept plan. The site plan for the property on the west side of Creek Road shall be governed by the concept plan attached to Ordinance 2016-21.
- 2. The uses and variances previously allowed by Ordinance 2016-21 shall be allowed on and applicable to the subject property with the following exceptions:
  - a. Condition 5 of Ordinance 2016-21 shall not be applicable to the subject property. ADA accessible parking spaces shall be installed in locations and numbers required by Federal law and with a surface required by Federal law.
  - b. Condition 12 of Ordinance 2016-21 shall not be applicable to the subject property. Instead, there shall be a maximum of thirty thousand (30,000) square feet of additional buildings constructed on the subject property in substantially the locations shown on the concept plan. No individual building shall be larger than ten thousand (10,000) square feet.
- 3. Condition 12 of Ordinance 2016-21 shall be modified for the West Side of Creek Rd property to read: "there may be a maximum of thirty thousand (30,000) square feet of additional non-agricultural exempt buildings constructed on the property. No individual, non-agricultural exempt building shall be larger than ten thousand (10,000) square feet.
- 4. Condition 3 of Ordinance 2016-21 shall be interpreted as variances to Sections 7:01.E.10.i, 7:01.E10.j, and

7:01.E.10.k of the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance regarding the hours of operation, number, and days of operation of seasonal festivals for the subject property and the property governed by Ordinance 2016-21.

- 5. Condition 9 of Ordinance 2016-21 shall be interpreted as a variance to Section 7:01.E.10.d of the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance to allow the sale of alcohol at seasonal festivals.
- 6. The owners of the uses allowed by this special use permit acknowledge and agree to follow Kendall County's Right to Farm Clause.
- 7. The owners of the uses allowed by this special use permit amendment agree to follow all applicable Federal, State, and Local laws governing these types of uses.
- 8. Failure to comply with one or more of the above conditions or restrictions could result in the amendment or revocation of the special use permit.
- 9. If one or more of the above conditions is declared invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining conditions shall remain valid.

Mr. Gengler asked about patrons crossing Creek Road. Larry Nelson stated that they would have a people mover that would move people from one picking area to another picking area. Commander Langston asked about a pedestrian crossing. Mr. Nelson felt that pedestrian crossings of Creek Road would not occur and any crossing would occur by people move. Mr. Nelson offered to talk with the Sheriff's Office to discuss implementing strategies to prevent pedestrian crossings. They will develop a protocol for the people mover.

Mr. Nelson noted that he and his son met with the Little Rock Township Board and he has discussed this proposal with the Little Rock Township Road Commissioner and the Mayor of Plano.

Mr. Nelson noted that the Little Rock Fox Fire Protection favored the proposed traffic pattern with no staging on Creek or Frazier Roads. Mr. Nelson noted that topography limits the number of possible locations to have cars turning onto Creek Road.

Mr. Nelson stated the apple orchard will expand and they are moving the pumpkin patch. He stated that they are developing a several year plan for Woody's.

Mr. Guritz noted his partnerships with organizations and property owners regarding ecosystem protection in the area. He asked if the Petitioner had considered erosion issues along the bluffs and possible partnership opportunities. Mr. Nelson responded he is cleaning up the ravines and is installing large boulders. Mr. Nelson is concerned about erosion control and has been sensitive to the bluffs and he is trying to implement best practices for erosion control.

Ms. Belville requested a meeting regarding well and septic service on the property. She discussed the non-community well testing requirements. Mr. Nelson noted that the septic is four (4) times larger than required. He has obtained core samples on the east of Creek Road and the soils look good for a septic system; there was no high water table.

Mr. Asselmeier asked if bathroom facilities and potable water facilities will be located in the expanded area. Mr. Nelson responded those facilities will stay in the old area, but they will have porta-johns near the you-pick apple area when that service starts on the east side of Creek Road.

Tom Karpus, City of Plano, noted that Plano has no objections at this time.

Mr. Guritz made a motion, seconded by Mr. Holdiman, to recommend approval of the amendments to the special use permit and variances as requested.

Yeas (8): Asselmeier, Belville, Gengler, Guritz, Holdiman, Klaas, Langston, and Olson Nays (0): None Abstain (0): None Absent (2): Briganti and Chismark

The motion carried.

The proposal goes to the Kendall County Regional Planning Commission on February 24, 2021.

## Petition 21-04 Oswegoland Park District

Mr. Asselmeier summarized the request.

The Oswegoland Park District would like to construct an approximately three thousand four twenty-six (3,426) square foot addition on the northwest corner of their property at 0 Boulder Hill Pass.

Section 13:10 of the Zoning Ordinance requires site plan review for structures on properties zoned B-3.

The application material, plat of survey, site plan, photometric plan, landscaping plan, improvement plan, including elevations and project timeline, and renderings were provided.

The site is approximately two point three-nine (2.39) acres.

The Future Land Use is Suburban Residential.

Boulder Hill Pass is a local road maintained by Oswego Township. The property does not have access to Route 25 or Aldon Road. There is an existing trail along Route 25. No trails are planned along Boulder Hill Pass or Aldon Road.

The far southwest corner of the property is in the five (500)-year floodplain. There are no wetlands on the property.

The adjacent land uses are single-family residential, duplex, apartments, gas station, Boulder Hill Market, office building and the Fox River.

The adjacent zonings are A-1, R-3 SU, R-6, R-7, B-1, and B-3.

The Future Land Use Map calls for the area to be Suburban Residential and Unknown. The Unknown property is proposed to be Conservation.

Mr. Klaas stopped attending the meeting remotely at this time (9:54 a.m.).

Pictures of the property were provided.

The special use permit to the east is for a duplex.

Petition information was sent to Oswego Township on January 25, 2021.

Petition information was send to the Village of Montgomery on January 25, 2021.

Petition information was sent to the Oswego Fire Protection District on January 25, 2021. The Oswego Fire Protection submitted an email on January 25, 2021, stating if a proper and compliant fire alarm/sprinkler system were provided or maintained, the Fire Protection District would not have any objections.

As noted in the project narrative, the Petitioner wishes to construct the proposed addition, include Americans with Disabilities Act Parking and related access, parking facility improvements, the installation of a new fire suppression system, and the installation of a new gravity sanitary sewer service. The plan also includes the addition of a rain garden.

The existing building was originally constructed in 1960 as a fourteen thousand nine hundred fifty-six (14,956) square foot car dealership. The building has been remolded several times since original construction. A complete breakdown of usage by square footage, both existing and proposed were provided.

The property where the building is located has been zoned B-3 since 1974. The strip of land to the north of the building has been zoned R-7 since 1967.

Pursuant to Section 13:10.D of the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance, the following shall be taken into account when reviewing Site Plans (Staff comments in bold):

Responsive to Site Conditions-Site plans should be based on an analysis of the site. Such site analysis shall examine characteristics such as site context; geology and soils; topography; climate and ecology; existing vegetation, structures and road network; visual features; and current use of the site. In addition to the standards listed below, petitioners must also follow the regulations outlined in this Zoning Ordinance. To the fullest extent possible, improvements shall be located to preserve the natural features of the site, to avoid areas of environmental sensitivity, and to minimize negative effects and alteration of natural features. Fragile areas such as wetlands and flood plains should be preserved as open space. Slopes ZPAC Meeting Minutes 02.02.21

in excess of 20 percent as measured over a 10-foot interval also should remain as open space, unless appropriate engineering measures concerning slope stability, erosion and safety are taken. The majority of the subject property is already an improved commercial/indoor recreational use. The landscaping plan includes a new rain garden area with native plantings surrounded by a natural turf area to the north of the building. Mulch beds will be installed around the addition and landscape bed plantings will be installed to the west of the addition. No existing trees or landscaping will be removed from the property. Most of the site is already impervious surface and the Petitioners are increasing the impervious area by approximately nine hundred (900) square feet. No construction is planned in the area in the 500-year floodplain. No slopes exist on the property. A stormwater pollution prevention plan is included in the improvement plans.

Traffic and Parking Layout-Site plans should minimize dangerous traffic movements and congestion, while achieving efficient traffic flow. An appropriate number of parking spaces shall be provided while maintaining County design standards. The number of curb cuts should be minimized and normally be located as far as possible from intersections. Connections shall be provided between parking areas to allow vehicles to travel among adjacent commercial or office uses. Cross-access easements or other recordable mechanisms must be employed. The property already possesses access off of Boulder Hill Pass. No additional access points off of Route 25 or Aldon Road are planned. As part of the project, the number of parking spaces shall be reduced from one hundred five (105) to ninety-four (94). The number of handicapped accessible spaces shall be reduced from five (5) to four (4).

Conflicts between pedestrians and vehicular movements should be minimized. When truck traffic will be present upon the site, the road size and configuration shall be adequate to provide for off-street parking and loading facilities for large vehicles. Barrier curb should be employed for all perimeters of and islands in paved parking lots, as well as for all service drives, loading dock areas, and the equivalent. Parking lots in industrial or commercial areas shall be paved with hot-mix asphalt or concrete surfacing. No conflicts are foreseen. The parking lot will meet applicable surfacing requirements.

Site Layout-Improvements shall be laid out to avoid adversely affecting ground water and aquifer recharge; minimize cut and fill; avoid unnecessary impervious cover; prevent flooding and pollution; provide adequate access to lots and sites; and mitigate adverse effects of shadow, noise, odor, traffic, drainage and utilities on neighboring properties. The top of the parapet of the addition, which is the highest point of the addition, will be approximately seventeen feet, three inches (17'3") in height. This is the same height as the existing parapets. No impacts to shadow, noise, odor, traffic, drainage, or utilities are foreseen.

Consistent with the Land Resource Management Plan-The proposed use and the design of the site should be consistent with the Land Resource Management Plan. This is true because the use is existing.

Building Materials-The proposed site plan design shall provide a desirable environment for its occupants and visitors as well as its neighbors through aesthetic use of materials, textures and colors that will remain appealing and will retain a reasonably adequate level of maintenance. Buildings shall be in scale with the ultimate development planned for the area. Monotony of design shall be avoided. Variations in detail, form, and setting shall be used to provide visual interest. Variation shall be balanced by coherence of design elements. The exterior of the addition will consist of an alpine timber colored stone veneer and a Navajo beige colored cement lap siding to match the existing siding. A non-illuminated, lettered sign will be on the addition.

Relationship to Surrounding Development-A site shall be developed in harmony with neighboring street pattern, setbacks and other design elements. The proposed addition is in harmony with the existing use and neighboring uses.

Open Space and Pedestrian Circulation-Improvements shall be designed to facilitate convenient and safe pedestrian and bicycle movement within and to the property. This is not an issue.

Buffering-Measures shall be taken to protect adjacent properties from any undue disturbance caused by excessive noise, smoke, vapors, fumes, dusts, odors, glare or stormwater runoff. Incompatible, unsightly activities are to be screened and buffered from public view. The proposed addition will be landscaped with the rain garden and existing vegetation creating buffer with the properties to the north. No issues regarding noise, smoke, vapors, fumes, dust, odors, glare, or stormwater runoff are foreseen.

Emergency Vehicle Access-Every structure shall have sufficient access for emergency vehicles. The property has access from Boulder Hill Pass. Circulation already exists in the property for emergency vehicles.

Mechanical Equipment Screening-All heating, ventilation and air conditioning equipment shall be screened on sides where they abut residential districts. The existing units on the roof are unscreened; the new units on the roof will also be unscreened.

Lighting-The height and shielding of lighting fixtures shall provide proper lighting without hazard to motorists on adjacent roadways or nuisance to adjacent residents by extending onto adjacent property. Cut-off lighting should be used in most locations, with fixtures designed so that the bulb/light source is not visible from general side view. The proposal calls for ten (10) single head poles on the property. All existing lighting will be replaced with energy efficient LED fixtures. Egress door lighting will be installed on the addition. Two (2) existing, illuminated monument signs are located on the property.

Refuse Disposal and Recycling Storage Areas-All refuse disposal and recycling storage areas should be located in areas designed to provide adequate accessibility for service vehicles. Locations should be in areas where minimal exposure to public streets or residential districts will exist. Screening shall be required in areas which are adjacent to residential districts or are within public view. Such enclosures should not be located in landscape buffers. Refuse containers and compactor systems shall be placed on smooth surfaces of non-absorbent material such as concrete or machine-laid asphalt. A concrete pad shall be used for storing grease containers. Refuse disposal and recycling storage areas serving food establishments shall be located as far as possible from the building's doors and windows. The use of chain link fences with slats is prohibited. The refuse enclosure area will be located near the northeast corner of the building. The enclosure will be board-on-board fencing with swings gates. The fencing will be six feet (6') in height.

Pending comments from ZPAC members, Staff recommends approval of the proposed site plan as proposed with the following conditions:

- 1. The site shall be developed substantial in conformance with the submitted site plan, photometric plan, landscaping plan, improvement plan, and renderings.
- 2. The site shall be developed in accordance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws related to site development and the type of use proposed for the site, including, but, not limited to, securing the applicable building permits.

John Whitehouse, Engineer for the Petitioner, noted that three (3) trees and some shrubs at the existing entrance on the northern end of the building that will be removed. Shrubs will be placed as foundation plantings around the building and the trees will be replaced at the northerly corner of the property.

Mr. Asselmeier asked about pre- and post-construction runoff volumes and documentation that a reduction in the pollutant load will occur. Mr. Whitehouse responded they will be submitting calculations of volumes as requested.

Mr. Whitehouse noted that a new water service will be installed. They are working to secure necessary permits from the Village of Montgomery. They will be installing a new six inch (6") water service off of Aldon Road and adding a hydrant.

Mr. Asselmeier made a motion, seconded by Mr. Guritz, to recommend approval of the site plan with the conditions proposed by Staff and the amendment regarding the removal and replacement of the three (3) trees and shrubs at the northern end of the building.

The votes were as follows:

Yeas (7): Asselmeier, Belville, Gengler, Guritz, Holdiman, Langston, and Olson Nays (0): None Abstain (0): None Absent (3): Briganti, Chismark, and Klaas

The motion carried.

# REVIEW OF PETITIONS THAT WENT TO COUNTY BOARD

None

## OLD BUSINESS/NEW BUSINESS

Mr. Asselmeier reported that the Kendall County Regional Planning Commission's Annual Meeting is Saturday, February 6, 2021, at 9:00 a.m.

# CORRESPONDENCE

None

# PUBLIC COMMENT

Mr. Asselmeier noted that there will be at least two (2) petitions on the March agenda.

## **ADJOURNMENT**

Mr. Guritz made a motion, seconded by Commander Langston, to adjourn.

The votes were as follows:

Yeas (7): Asselmeier, Belville, Gengler, Guritz, Holdiman, Langston, and Olson Nays (0): None Abstain (0): None Absent (3): Briganti, Chismark, and Klaas

The motion carried.

The ZPAC, at 10:05 a.m., adjourned.

Respectfully Submitted, Matthew H. Asselmeier, AICP, CFM Senior Planner

Enc.

# KENDALL COUNTY ZONING & PLATTING ADVISORY COMMITTEE FEBRUARY 2, 2021

# IF YOU WOULD LIKE TO BE CONTACTED ON FUTURE MEETINGS REGARDING THIS TOPIC, PLEASE PROVIDE YOUR ADDRESS OR EMAIL ADDRESS

NAME	ADDRESS (OPTIONAL)	email address (Optional)
Opr Kramon	1107 A S. Bridge JA Julul I Rd	-20-32